THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Gordon G. Cooper, Master-In-Equity
Trial Court Case No. 2011-CP-42-0500

Appellate Case No. 2019-000404

RECEIVED
DEC 23 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Super Suds, LLC, Appellant,

v.

Carolina Properties Holdings, LLC, Walter W. Parker, IV, the United States of America by
and through the U.S. Small Business Administration, Carolina Clean Greer I, LLC, and
Community Development & Improvement Corporation, Defendants,

Of Which Carolina Properties Holdings, LLC, and Walter W. Parker, IV are the Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael B.T. Wilkes (S.C. Bar #6107)
mwilkes@wilkeslaw.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FINDING THAT RULE 43(k), SCRCP, WAS INAPPLICABLE TO THE PURPORTED SETTLEMENT OF THIS FORECLOSURE ACTION BETWEEN AND AMONG PARTIES WHO WERE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL AND THOSE WHO WERE NOT REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO CONSIDER FACTS OPPOSING RESPONDENTS' CONTENTION OF AN ENFORCEABLE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT WHICH WERE ALREADY IN THE TRIAL COURT'S RECORD OF APPELLANT'S POSITION PRESENTED BY HILL, AND BY REFUSING TO ACCEPT DIRECT TESTIMONY FROM HILL IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, BOTH AT THE HEARING AND IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO STRIKE HILL'S AFFIDAVIT?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY VIOLATING RULE 56, SCRCP, WHEN IT REFUSED APPELLANT ANY OPPORTUNITY TO OFFER EVIDENCE IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, BECAUSE THERE WAS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY GRANTING RESPONDENTS EQUITABLE RELIEF IN THIS FORECLOSURE ACTION, WHEN IT IS UNDISPUTED THAT THE PROPERTY OWNER RESPONDENT, CPH, ENGAGED IN THE UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE OF LAW?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from Appellant Super Suds, LLC's attempt to foreclose a mortgage (the "Mortgage") on real property owned by Respondent Carolina Properties Holdings, LLC ("CPH"). (R. pp. 696-97; pp. 702-03, ¶¶ 2-8.) The Mortgage secures a promissory note (the "Note") CPH executed with Branch Banking & Trust Company ("BB&T") in late 2005 to obtain a commercial loan from BB&T. (R. p. 449, line 13-p. 453, line 5; pp. 532-38; pp. 539-44.) Appellant purchased the Mortgage and the Note (collectively, the "Loan") from BB&T in September 2011, after BB&T initiated this action (the "Foreclosure Action"). (R. p. 34; p. 702, ¶ 5; p. 306, lines 3-6; p. 314, lines 2-6; p. 326, lines 6-8; pp. 343-360; p. 503, line 20-p. 504, line 13; p. 620.) Attorney Allen Hill represented Appellant in that transaction. (p. 702, ¶ 6.)

On February 2, 2011, BB&T filed the Foreclosure Action to foreclose the Mortgage against CPH, Respondent Walter Wellington Parker, IV, and two other entities holding lien interests in the Property: the United States, by and through the Small Business Administration (the "SBA"), which holds a subordinate mortgage on the Property; and Community Development & Improvement Corporation ("CDIC"), which previously held a security interest on equipment installed on the Property, through a lien that is now expired. (R. pp. 33-34.) After Appellant purchased the Loan, Appellant was substituted for BB&T as the plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action, and Hill was substituted as Appellant's counsel. (R. p. 14.)

Respondents contend that Appellant cannot foreclose on the Mortgage because Hill negotiated with Respondents in 2011 a settlement agreement which was consummated when Parker executed and sent Hill a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure (the "Deed in Lieu") dated October 24, 2011. (R. pp. 162-63.) Respondents claim that through this process, they conveyed title to the Property to Appellant and extinguished the Mortgage. (R. pp. 162-63.)

Appellant maintains that the settlement agreement Hill negotiated with Respondents in 2011 was never consummated and does not bar the Foreclosure Action, because that agreement contains a condition precedent that has not been met: specifically, that Hill would resolve the SBA's lien interest in the Property for \$2,000, before and in order for the Deed in Lieu that Parker signed to be accepted by Appellant and to settle the Foreclosure Action. (R. p. 649; pp. 701-03, ¶¶ 1, 8.) Because Hill was unable to resolve the SBA lien for \$2,000, Appellant never accepted the Deed in Lieu; so, the Foreclosure Action is not settled and remains pending. (R. p. 649; pp. 701-03, ¶¶ 1, 8.)

The issues presented in this appeal arose when Respondents filed a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, Motion to Dismiss the Foreclosure Action, arguing that Appellant lacks any grounds for foreclosing on the Mortgage because it accepted the Deed in Lieu in settlement of the claims in 2011. (R. p. 100; p. 162.) In opposition to Respondents' position, and because the settlement agreement's condition precedent of lien resolution never was satisfied, Appellant moved under Rule 43(k), SCRPC, for a declaration that the parties' settlement agreement has not been consummated – which declaration should defeat the basis of Respondents' Motion to Dismiss the Foreclosure Action. (R. p. 124; pp. 128, 134.) The trial court's ensuing decision to convert Respondents' Motion to Dismiss into a summary judgment motion, and its evidentiary rulings regarding and resulting from that decision, led to the errors Appellant now submits for this Court's decision. (R. pp. 221-28; pp. 215-19.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2005, Parker, who was a real estate developer and broker, planned to open an automatic car wash business in Spartanburg County, South Carolina. (Appx. to R. p. 2; R. p. 414, line 22-p. 415, line 4.) Parker had extensive experience in business management and real estate transactions,

and he believed a car wash business in the Upstate would be profitable. (Appx. to R. p. 2; p. 413, line 25-p. 420, line 10.) In addition to his having executive level experience in real estate development, financing, foreclosures, and sales across nine states, Parker had spent six years working at a large mortgage holding company, where he negotiated with defaulting borrowers to resolve foreclosure actions. (R. p. 413, line 25-p. 420, line 10.) Parker also owned multiple rental properties, including an apartment building. (R. p. 412, line 19-p. 413, line 11.) Notably, Parker is not a licensed attorney in South Carolina. (R. p. 505, lines 12-14.)

To start his car wash business, Parker formed two entities: CPH and Carolina Clean Greer I, LLC ("Carolina Clean"). (Appx. to R. p. 2; R. p. 420, line 11-p. 422, line 10.) In August 2005, Parker used CPH to purchase the Property for \$212,000 in cash, and he planned to construct the car wash there. (Appx. to R. p. 2; R. 441, line 5- p. 443, line 9; pp. 573-78). CPH obtained a \$585,000 loan from BB&T to construct a two-bay car wash on the Property, purchase business equipment, and operate the business. (R. p. 447, lines 4-7; p. 449, lines 7-9; p. 471, line 25-p. 472, line 3; pp. 539-44.) In exchange for that loan, CPH executed the Mortgage and the Note in favor of BB&T. (R. p. 449, line 13-p. 453, line 5; pp. 532-38.) Additionally, Parker personally guaranteed the Note. (R. p. 453, lines 10-19.)

Parker opened his car wash for business in early 2007. (R. p. 472, lines 18-20; p. 518, lines 16-24.) The business struggled to make money. (Appx. to R. p. 2.) In December 2007, CPH borrowed \$133,000 from the SBA to make payments to BB&T under the Note. (Appx. to R. p. 2; R. p. 471, line 10- p. 472, line 11.) Later, CPH modified the SBA loan to borrow another \$26,500 from the SBA for the same purpose. (Appx. to R. p. 2; R. p. 471, line 10- p. 474, line 13.) In both instances, CPH granted the SBA a mortgage on the Property securing the SBA loan. (R. p. 471, line 10-p. 473, line 15.) Parker and his wife also personally guaranteed the SBA loan. (R. p. 471,

line 10-p. 474, line 16.) Around 2009, Parker used Carolina Clean to borrow \$50,000 from CDIC. (R. p. 476, lines 2-22.)

On October 19, 2010, CPH defaulted on the Note. (Appx. to R. p. 2-3; R. p. 481, lines 14-17.) On February 2, 2011, BB&T filed the Foreclosure Action against CPH and Parker to foreclose on the Mortgage. (R. p. 34; Appx. to R. p. 3.) On April 21, 2011, Parker filed an Answer and Counterclaim in the Foreclosure Action *pro se*, and purportedly on behalf of CPH. (R. p. 429, line 19-p. 430, line 3; p. 482, line 20-p. 483, line 10.)

About four months after the Foreclosure Action was filed, Parker's bankruptcy lawyer, Attorney Leon Jones of Jones & Walden in Atlanta, contacted BB&T about potentially settling this Foreclosure Action. (R. p. 492, line 5-p. 493, line 22.) On August 9, 2011, BB&T responded with an offer to sell the Note to an independent buyer for \$200,000 pursuant to a Note Purchase and Sale Agreement, and subject to the condition precedent that both CPH and Parker execute a settlement agreement with BB&T obligating them to dismiss their counterclaims against BB&T with prejudice. (R. p. 494, line 23-p. 501, line 10.)

Parker then approached Ken Howard, member/manager of Appellant, about purchasing the car wash. (R. p. 517, lines 21-23; p. 519, lines 3-7; R. p. 296, lines 20-23.) Appellant offered to purchase the car wash for \$200,000. (R. p. 519, line 12- p. 520, line 8; R. p. 296, line 20-p. 300, line 20.) After discussing the matter with Howard, BB&T agreed to sell the Loan to Appellant for \$200,000. (R. p. 298, lines 3-17.) Appellant was represented by Hill in its negotiations with BB&T. (R. p. 702, ¶ 6.)

While Hill negotiated on behalf of Appellant with BB&T over purchasing the Loan, Hill simultaneously negotiated with Parker to resolve the Foreclosure Action once Appellant purchased the Mortgage. (R. p. 702, ¶¶ 1, 6.) On August 18, 2011, Parker advised Hill in an email that Greg

Dixon, a Lead Loan Specialist at the SBA, had stated that the SBA would take \$2,000 to “go away” in the Foreclosure Action. (R. p. 507, line 20-p. 508, line 12.) Hill interpreted that email to mean the SBA would take \$2,000 to release its mortgage lien, not to satisfy the SBA debt. (R. p. 705, ¶ 20.)

On September 19, 2011, BB&T sent Parker an unsigned Settlement Agreement and Release of Claims, and an unsigned Stipulation of Dismissal of Counterclaims for Parker to execute. (R. p. 496, line 1- p. 497, line 7.) The next day, Parker emailed BB&T’s counsel to confirm that BB&T would sell to Appellant the right to foreclose on the Property in addition to the BB&T Note. (R. p. 497, line 15-p. 499, line 16.) BB&T’s counsel confirmed. (R. p. 497, line 15-p. 499, line 16.) Later that day, Parker emailed Hill to inform Hill that Parker was about to execute the settlement agreement and stipulation of dismissal, and to confirm that Appellant would neither seek a deficiency judgment against CPH or Parker, nor file an IRS Form 1099 for the forgiveness of debt. (R. p. 499, line 19-p. 501, line 10.) Hill confirmed. (R. p. 499, line 19-p. 501, line 10.)

During the course of Hill’s and Parker’s various negotiations, they agreed as follows: (1) CPH would execute and deliver a deed in lieu of foreclosure to Hill, who would hold that deed in trust while Hill negotiated lien releases with the SBA and the CDIC; and (2) if Hill was unable to obtain those lien releases, Hill would not deliver the deed in lieu to Appellant, and title to the Property would not be transferred to Appellant. (R. pp. 702-03, ¶ 8.) Hill never delivered the Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure to Appellant, and Appellant never received it. (R. pp. 701-02, ¶ 1.)

On September 16, 2011, Appellant purchased the Note and the Mortgage from BB&T for \$200,000. (R. p. 702, ¶ 5; R. p. 306, lines 3-6; p. 314, lines 206; p. 326, lines 6-8; pp. 343-360; p. 503, line 20-p. 504, line 13; p. 620.) One week later, Parker executed the Settlement Agreement

with BB&T on behalf of CPH and himself. (Appx. to R. p. 3; R. p. 501, line 13-p. 506, line 6.) The Settlement Agreement with BB&T required Parker and CPH to dismiss their counterclaims in the Foreclosure Action, and provided: "Borrower and Guarantor acknowledge the Bank is not releasing its claim against Borrower and Guarantor under this Agreement." (Appx. to R. p. 3; p. 501, line 13-p. 506, line 6.) Parker mailed the Settlement Agreement to BB&T's counsel. (Appx. to R. p. 3; R. p. 501, line 13-p. 506, line 6.)

As a result of the communications between Hill and Parker, Hill prepared the Deed in Lieu, which Parker executed on behalf of CPH on October 21, 2011. (R. pp. 701-02, ¶¶ 1, 8; R. p. 507, line 19-p. 509, line 25; p. 311, line 18-p. 314, line 20.) After execution for CPH, Parker delivered the Deed in Lieu to Hill to hold in trust. (R. pp. 701-02, ¶¶ 1, 8; p. 507, line 19-p. 509, line 18; p. 311, line 18-p. 314, line 20.) Several days later, Parker delivered the key to the car wash on the Property to Howard. (R. p. 485, lines 8-21.) Parker was not authorized by CPH to convey the Property by any LLC resolution, and he is also unaware whether he signed an affidavit in connection with the Deed in Lieu which referenced other liens on the Property or any affidavits regarding the value of the Property, or obtained a certificate of compliance from the South Carolina Department of Revenue for the purported transfer of the Property. (R. p. 510, line 15-p. 512, line 20.)

On October 31, 2011, Appellant was substituted for BB&T as the plaintiff in the Foreclosure Action, and Hill was substituted as Appellant's counsel. (R. p. 14.)

On September 25, 2014, the Foreclosure Action was referred to the Spartanburg County Master in Equity, via an Order of Reference. (R. p. 12.) On August 9, 2016, Attorney Charles D. LeGrand appeared as co-counsel with Hill for Appellant, and both Hill and LeGrand continued to

represent Appellant in the Foreclosure Action throughout its pendency in the trial court.¹ (R. p. 14.)

On or around August 29, 2016, Hyde Law Firm, P.A., first appeared as counsel for CPH and Parker, via a Notice of Appearance. This was the first appearance of South Carolina licensed counsel for CPH or Parker.² (R. p. 138.) Respondents concede that they were not represented by counsel at the time of execution of the Deed in Lieu dated October 24, 2011, which Respondents contend ended the legal basis for this Foreclosure Action, and Respondents further concede that they did not retain South Carolina licensed counsel in this Action until they retained Hyde Law Firm in 2016. (R. p. 138.)

On April 5, 2017, Respondents filed a Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP. (R. p. 100.) The Motion was untimely under Rule 12, SCRCPP, because it was filed nearly six full years after Respondents filed their answer. (R. p. 100.) On May 26, 2017, Respondents filed a Motion to Disqualify Hill as Appellant's counsel of record, and a Motion to Compel Discovery from Appellant. (R. p. 103; p. 106.) The trial court heard these motions, and on September 1, 2017, the trial court issued an Order denying Respondents' Motion to Disqualify Hill. (R. p. 18.)

¹ This Court relieved LeGrand and Hill as counsel for Appellant on June 4, 2019.

² Respondents represented to the trial court, and the trial court found, that Respondents were represented by Attorney Leon Jones of Jones & Walden, an Atlanta, Georgia firm, "during the initial stages of [this action]; however, Jones ceased representation during the [BB&T] negotiations." (R. p. 138; p. 34.) Jones never made an appearance with the trial court, and Jones is not listed in the directory of members of the South Carolina Bar.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Erred By Finding That Rule 43(k), SCRPC, Does Not Apply To The Purported Settlement Of The Foreclosure Action Between And Among Parties Represented By Counsel And Parties Who Were Not Represented By Counsel.

A. Standard of Review

Whether Rule 43(k), SCRPC, is applicable to a *pro se* litigant constitutes a question of law. *See Personal Care, Inc. v. Theos*, 426 S.C. 78, 85, 825 S.E.2d 281, 284 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding analysis of application of rule of civil procedure to be question of law). “Where [an] action presents a question of law, . . . [the Court of Appeals’] review is plenary and without deference to the trial court.” *Crossman Cmty. Of North Carolina, Inc. v. Harleysville Mut. Ins. Co.*, 411 S.C. 506, 518, 769 S.E.2d 453, 459 (Ct. App. 2015). Accordingly, in this matter, the trial court’s ruling on the applicability of Rule 43(k), SCRPC, to *pro se* litigants is subject to *de novo* review. *Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 30, 731 S.E.2d 288, 291 (2012).

B. The Deed In Lieu is a Purported Agreement Affecting the Proceedings in the Foreclosure Action, as Indicated by the Express Title of the Document.

Rule 43(k), SCRPC, provides as follows:

No agreement between counsel affecting the proceedings in an action shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or unless made in open court and noted upon the record, **or reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel.** Settlement agreements shall be handled in accordance with Rule 41.1, SCRPC.

Rule 43(k), SCRPC (emphasis added).

The trial court echoed this holding in its September 1 Hill Order, which stated that “[i]f CPH and Parker move to compel a purported settlement, the Court will consider said motion, and will determine what information it requires, if any, of Parker, Hill or any other witness, as to

whether in 2011 an enforceable settlement agreement was made under Rule 43(k), SCRCF.” (R. p. 16.) The trial court later diverged from this ruling, and erred by finding that Rule 43(k), SCRCF, does not apply to an alleged settlement agreement in a civil action in which some parties are not represented by counsel. (R. p. 38.) The trial court therefore also erred in failing to determine whether these parties entered into a binding settlement agreement under Rule 43(k), SCRCF. (R. p. 38.)

Respondents contend that they offered the Deed in Lieu as a resolution of this action. (R. to R. p. 3.) The Deed in Lieu was signed by Parker for CPH on October 24, 2011, over eight months after initiation of the Foreclosure Action. (R. p. 204; Appx. to R. p. 3.) Accordingly, the Deed in Lieu was offered during pending litigation to attempt to create an agreement affecting this litigation.

In Parker’s deposition, which was in the record for the July 17, 2018 hearing, he admitted that there was no settlement agreement that CPH or he had with Appellant for this case. (R. p. 502, lines 17-20; p. 55.) Further, in deposition testimony which was presented to the trial court prior to the hearing on the Motion for Declaration pursuant to Rule 43(k), SCRCF, Howard, the member and manager of Appellant, testified that he had never heard of a deed in lieu of foreclosure. (R. p. 311, lines 9-11.) Howard further stated that the purpose of purchasing the Loan and continuing legal proceedings was to have a clear deed for the Property. (R. p. 311, lines 12-17.)

C. Rule 43(k), SCRCF, Applies in All Cases Where There is a Pending Action, Regardless of Whether the Parties to the Action are Represented by Counsel.

The very purpose of Rule 43(k), SCRCF, is to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation. *Farnsworth v. Davis Heating & Air Conditioning, Inc.*, 367 S.C. 634, 637, 627 S.E.2d 724, 725 (2006). No agreement affecting a

pending proceeding is binding unless one of the conditions of Rule 43(k), SCRCP, is met. *Id.* at 637, 627 S.E.2d at 725.

Our Supreme Court has clearly stated that “Rule 43(k), SCRCP, is intended to prevent disputes as to the existence and terms of agreements regarding pending litigation . . . and it is applicable to settlement agreements.” *Ashfort Corp. v. Palmetto Constr. Group, Inc.*, 318 S.C. 492, 493-4, 458 S.E.2d 533, 534 (1995). In essence, Rule 43(k), SCRCP, operates as a statute of frauds for civil action settlement agreements, requiring agreements to be in writing and signed by all parties, or made in court by stipulation or statement on the record, to avoid confusion as to the specific terms of settlement agreements. *Id.* As with the Statute of Frauds, a settlement agreement in pending litigation is not binding on the parties to it, unless the terms of Rule 43(k), SCRCP, are met. *Id.* Part of the purpose of Rule 43(k), SCRCP, in a case like this is to be certain that a party and that party’s attorney understand and agree on the term, or terms, at issue in a civil action. *Id.* The trial court has erred by not following Rule 43(k), SCRCP, to protect Appellant’s interests in this case.

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