THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Gordon G. Cooper, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-000404
Trial Court Case No. 2011-CP-42-0500

Super Suds, LLC,..... Appellant,

v.

Carolina Properties Holdings, LLC and
Walter W. Parker, IV, The United States of America
by and through the U.S. Small Business Administration,
Carolina Clean Greer I, LLC, and Community
Development and Improvement Corporation, Defendants,

Of Which

Carolina Properties Holdings, LLC, and
Walter W. Parker, IV are Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP

Patrick C. Wooten, Esquire

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

ii. The Court should reject Appellant's arguments relating to CPH's alleged unauthorized practice of law and "unclean hands" because they are not preserved and because they fail on the merits.

Appellant asks the Court to ignore the plain language of Rule 43(k) because, according to Appellant, CPH is attempting to benefit from its *pro se* participation in the foreclosure litigation. Similarly, Appellant argues that the Court should rule in its favor because CPH has "unclean hands" based on its unauthorized practice of law. The Court should reject these arguments for at least two reasons.

First, Appellant raised these arguments for the first time in its motion to reconsider; thus, these arguments are not preserved for appeal. *See Peterson v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 148, 152, 697 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2010) ("While Peterson raised the employer-employee argument in his motion to reconsider, he failed to raise it during the summary judgment proceedings; therefore, it is not preserved."). Thus, the Court need not, and should not, reach the merits of these arguments.

Second, Appellant's arguments fail on the merits. Appellant is attempting to conflate, on the one hand, CPH's role in the foreclosure litigation prior to being represented by counsel—a role that was limited to merely filing an answer and counterclaim against BB&T on April 21, 2011—with, on the other hand, CPH's role in negotiating the DIL with Appellant's counsel and then

⁶ Appellant argues that "[t]he absurdity of Respondents' position is apparent if the Court examines the situation that would exist if the parties' roles were reversed." App. Br. at 17. Appellant is incorrect. If Appellant had conveyed title to a piece of real estate to CPH via an unambiguous deed signed by Appellant, and if CPH had then taken possession of the property and operated a car wash on it for the past eight years, CPH would not expect a court to hold that CPH never received title to the property merely because CPH as grantee never signed the deed.

executing and delivering the DIL to Appellant's counsel, all of which occurred at a time when Appellant was a non-party to the foreclosure litigation. It is only the latter role that is relevant to this appeal. The fact that CPH filed an answer and counterclaim against BB&T several months before Appellant joined the litigation, and the fact that CPH did so without counsel of record, has no relevance whatsoever to this appeal. Rather, the relevant events for purposes of this appeal were CPH executing and delivering the DIL drafted by Appellant's counsel, and turning over possession to the Property to Appellant, none of which required CPH to be represented by counsel. *See* S.C. Code § 33-44-301(c) (providing that "any member of a member-managed company or manager of a manager-managed company may sign and deliver any instrument transferring or affecting the company's interest in real property").⁷

Appellant's reliance on this Court's opinion in *Wachovia Bank, N.A. v. Coffey*, 389 S.C. 68, 75, 698 S.E.2d 244, 247 (Ct. App. 2010), *aff'd as modified*, 404 S.C. 421, 746 S.E.2d 35 (2013) is misplaced.⁸ *See* App. Br. at 36. In *Coffey*, the Court applied the doctrine of unclean hands where Wachovia prepared mortgage-related documents without a lawyer and where the Court found that, by doing so, the borrower (Mrs. Coffey) suffered prejudice. This Court recognized that "[t]he doctrine of unclean hands precludes a plaintiff from recovering in equity if he acted unfairly in a matter that is the subject of the litigation *to the prejudice of the defendant.*" *Id.* (emphasis added).

⁷ Appellant argues that the prohibition on non-lawyers *preparing* deeds "should also extend to negotiation of instruments on behalf of limited liability companies resolving disputes related to notes and deeds." App. Br. at 38. Appellant cites no law in support of this assertion. In any event, to the extent Appellant contends the law prohibits a non-lawyer from *executing* a deed drafted by a lawyer, Appellant's contention is flatly contradicted by Section 33-44-301(c) of the South Carolina Code.

⁸ As an initial matter, the Supreme Court affirmed this Court's holding in *Coffey* based on reasons unrelated to the unauthorized practice of law or unclean hands. Thus, it is unclear whether this Court's holding in *Coffey* regarding the unauthorized practice of law remains good law. In any event, the holding has no application here for the reasons discussed herein.

In its brief, Appellant ignores the critical requirement that the party asserting unclean hands suffer prejudice as a result of the other party's unclean hands. Here, CPH's filing of an answer and counterclaim against BB&T in April 2011—which is the only action CPH took in the foreclosure action without being represented by counsel—had no impact whatsoever on Appellant, and certainly did not prejudice Appellant. The conduct relevant to this appeal—CPH's execution and delivery of the DIL—does not constitute the unauthorized practice of law, and in any event, *Appellant* was represented by counsel who was fully aware he was negotiating the DIL with the managing-member of a limited liability company which was not represented by counsel. Allowing Appellant to have a lawyer negotiate a DIL with CPH, with full knowledge that CPH was not represented by counsel, and then invalidate the DIL eight years later on that basis, would be perverse and entirely inconsistent with the law of unclean hands.

In sum, even if Appellant's arguments regarding the unauthorized practice of law and unclean hands were preserved for appeal—which they unquestionably are not—they would fail on the merits.

III. The Court should reject Appellant's procedural and evidentiary objections because they are not preserved for appeal and because they fail on the merits.

Appellant makes several arguments relating to supposed procedural and evidentiary errors made by the trial court. *See generally* App. Br. at 18-30. These arguments primarily relate to the Court refusing to allow Allan Hill to provide testimony either at the summary judgment hearing or through an affidavit; refusing to allow Appellant to conduct additional discovery before ruling on summary judgment; and failing to give Appellant sufficient notice that the trial court would convert CPH's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment. *See generally id.* These arguments are not preserved on appeal, and the Court therefore should not reach their merits. In any event, these arguments fail on the merits.

A. These arguments are not preserved on appeal.

Appellant did not raise any of these arguments until after the hearing where the trial court announced its ruling on the parties' motions and instructed counsel to prepare a proposed order. Thus, none of these arguments are preserved on appeal. *See, e.g., In re Walter M.*, 386 S.C. 387, 392, 688 S.E.2d 133, 136 (Ct. App. 2009) ("Generally, an issue must be both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court in order to be preserved for appellate review."); *Peterson v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 148, 152, 697 S.E.2d 656, 658 (Ct. App. 2010) ("While Peterson raised the employer-employee argument in his motion to reconsider, he failed to raise it during the summary judgment proceedings; therefore, it is not preserved.").

Although CPH captioned its motion filed on April 5, 2017, as a "motion to dismiss," the motion stated that it would be supported by "discovery." *See* Motion at 1 (R. p. 100). On July 9, 2018, after the parties had over a year-and-a-half to conduct discovery, and pursuant to the briefing schedule set by the trial court, CPH filed a memorandum in support of its motion, captioning it as a "Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative Motion for Summary Judgment." This memorandum made clear that CPH was seeking summary judgment, as CPH relied on documents outside the pleadings, including citations to deposition testimony. *See* Mem. Supp. and Exhibits (R. pp. 162-179). Appellant filed no memorandum in response to CPH's memorandum in support of its motion prior to the hearing, and at the hearing held on July 17, 2018, Appellant made no objection to the trial court converting CPH's motion to dismiss into a motion for summary judgment; made no objection to the amount of notice Appellant received for the hearing; made no request for a continuance; did not seek to introduce additional evidence or take additional discovery before the Court ruled on the motions; and did not object to the Court ruling before Appellant had the opportunity to conduct additional discovery or submit additional evidence. *See generally* July 17, 2018 H'rg Tr. (R. pp. 631-661). To the contrary, Appellant

implied that the parties did *not* need to conduct any additional discovery. *See id.* at 8:4 – 6 (R. p. 638, lines 4-6) (Appellant’s counsel stating: “At this point we have had two (2) years of delay, reams of paper in discovery all day depositions, motions, and status conferences and they still have not produced a written agreement.”). Further, the trial court gave all counsel the opportunity to argue for as long as they would like. *See id.* at 27:21-22 (R. p. 657, lines 21-22) (the trial court asking the parties if they have any further arguments before the trial court rules and Appellant’s counsel stating: “Nothing further from the Plaintiff, Your Honor.”).

Moreover, although Appellant implies that it attempted to introduce testimony from Allan Hill at the summary judgment hearing and was prohibited from doing so by the trial court, the transcript refutes this implication. In fact, at the hearing, Appellant’s counsel only sought to allow Mr. Hill to respond as counsel of record to an argument made by CPH’s counsel regarding the personal guaranty signed by Mr. Parker—an issue not even addressed in the affidavit from Mr. Hill that Appellant now argues the trial court should have considered.

In its brief, Appellant references the exchange between the trial court and Appellant’s counsel on page 23 of the transcript, and then states that “[t]he trial court did not afford Appellant any opportunity to supplement that record.” App. Br. at 20. But this is the exchange referenced by Appellant:

THE COURT: Is there anything that has been produced that indicates following the delivery of the deed in lieu to Mr. Hill as far as the conditions of his holding the deed or additional requirements of closing and certifications that you are talking about? I haven't seen any of that. I just want to make sure that I am not missing it.

MR. LEGRAND: I don't think there was.

THE COURT: There was nothing further after the delivery of the deed.

MR. LEGRAND: I don't think that there was any other letters of communications because he was working with the SBA or trying to communicate.

THE COURT: But there is nothing in the documents that have been submitted?

MR. LEGRAND: No. You are talking about between Mr. Hill and Walt Parker or somebody connected - - -

THE COURT: Right.

MR. LEGRAND; I don't think that there is any thing.

THE COURT: Something that says I have received your deed and I am holding it in escrow pending my working something out with the SBA or I also need the certifications of the corporation or LLC to determine if you have the right - - -

MR. LEGRAND: No.

THE COURT: So there is nothing as far as that is concerned?

MR. LEGRAND: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. Counsel.

July 17, 2018 H'rg Tr. at 23:2-21 (R. p. 653, lines 2-21). Later in the hearing, CPH's counsel disputes Appellant's counsel's assertion that allowing the foreclosure to occur would "leave us right back where this case should have been in the fall of 2012," arguing that, in fact, allowing the foreclosure to go forward would be prejudicial to Mr. Parker because it would likely result in the SBA pursuing Parker for a personal guaranty he signed. *Id.* at 25:7-22 (R. p. 655, lines 7-22). In response to this argument regarding the personal guaranty, Appellant's counsel, Mr. LeGrand, asks: "Your Honor, could Mr. Hill be allowed to make a final comment for the Plaintiff?" *Id.* at 25:23-24 (R. p. 655, lines 23-24). Counsel for CPH objects to Mr. Hill testifying as a witness, and

Mr. LeGrand responds that Mr. Hill “is an attorney of record” and “an officer of the court” and “can answer perhaps some of the comments and arguments made by the Defendants.” *Id.* at 26:6-8 (R. p. 656, lines 6-8). The trial court notes that the parties are present on the motions and not an evidentiary hearing and then asks whether the purpose of Mr. Hill speaking “would be to introduce evidence or make arguments.” *Id.* at 26:9-11 (R. p. 656, lines 9-11). At that point, Mr. Hill asks the trial court if he can confer with Mr. LeGrand, and says: “*I can tell Mr. LeGrand what we were talking about and you will not have to get into what I say or don’t. It is just with regard to what she just last said.*” *Id.* at 26:12-13 (R. p. 656, lines 12-13) (emphasis added). As noted, the last argument CPH’s counsel made was related to the personal guaranty signed by Mr. Parker. At that point, the trial court allows everyone to a break, and when they return, Mr. LeGrand responds to CPH’s counsel’s point regarding the personal guaranty. *See id.* at 26:25 – 27: 13 (R. p. 656, line 25 through R. p. 027, line 13). Notably, at no point during the hearing did Appellant’s counsel argue that Mr. Hill should be permitted to submit additional evidence, via live testimony or via affidavit. At the end of the hearing, after confirming that none of the counsel had any further arguments, the Court announced its ruling and the reasoning for its ruling and requested that counsel prepare a proposed order. *See id.* at 27:25 – 29:8 (R. p. 657, line 25 through R. p. 659, line 8).

On September 7, 2018—more than a month-and-a-half after the trial court announced its ruling and its rationale for its ruling, but before the trial court issued its Order—Appellant, without seeking or obtaining leave of court, filed a document captioned “Plaintiff’s Submission of Affidavit of Counsel.” *See* Pl. Sub. dated Sep. 7, 2018 (R. pp. 699-700). In this submission, Appellant did not argue that the trial court failed to provide sufficient notice of the summary judgment hearing or object to the conversion of the motion to dismiss to a motion for summary

judgment; did not argue that the trial court should have provided additional opportunities for discovery or submission of evidence; and did not argue that the trial court should have permitted Mr. Hill to testify or submit an affidavit at or before the summary judgment hearing. *See id.* This submission, which was not made until more than fifty (50) days after the summary judgment hearing where the trial court announced its ruling and the rationale for its ruling, was untimely. *See* Rule 56(c), SCRCP (providing that a party opposing a motion for summary judgment “may serve opposing affidavits not later than two days before the hearing”).

In its Motion to Reconsider filed on October 8, 2018, Appellant raised for the first time its various procedural objections which Appellant now seeks to argue on appeal, including its objections to the trial court converting CPH’s motion to a motion for summary judgment; a lack of sufficient notice of the hearing; a lack of an opportunity to submit additional evidence; and a failure of the trial court to consider Mr. Hill’s affidavit submitted more than fifty days after the Court announced its ruling on summary judgment and its reasoning for such ruling. *See* Mot. Reconsider, dated Oct. 8, 2018 (R. pp. 220-228). Thus, none of these arguments is preserved on appeal. *Peterson*, 389 S.C. at 152, 697 S.E.2d at 658 (“While Peterson raised the employer-employee argument in his motion to reconsider, he failed to raise it during the summary judgment proceedings; therefore, it is not preserved.”).

B. These arguments fail on the merits.

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